Court of Appeal No. 72416-9-I

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

ESTATE OF VIRGIL VICTOR BECKER, JR., by its Personal Representative, Jennifer L. White,

Appellant/Plaintiff,

٧.

FORWARD TECHNOLOGY INDUSTRIES, INC.,

Respondent/Defendant.

APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT FOR KING COUNTY THE HONORABLE MONICA BENTON

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Robert F. Hedrick, WSBA No. 26931 James T. Anderson, WSBA No. 40494 AVIATION LAW GROUP, P.S. 1420 5th Avenue, Suite 3000 Seattle, WA 98101 Telephone: (206) 464-1166

Attorneys for Appellant Estate of Virgil V. Becker, Jr. 2015 FED 13 PM 2: 09

I. INTRODUCTION

This is an appeal of an Order on Summary Judgment effectively dismissing defendant Forward Technologies Industries, Inc. ("FTI") from claims arising from the crash of a Cessna 172 aircraft near McMurray, Washington on July 27, 2008, in which plaintiff's decedent, Dr. Virgil V. Becker Jr. was killed.

Appellant Estate of Becker, through its personal representative Jennifer White ("Becker"), brought a wrongful death action against numerous defendants alleging that the accident was caused by loss of engine power due to defects in the engine carburetor. FTI, a Minnesota corporation, manufactured the subject defective carburetor component parts. FTI brought a Summary Judgment Motion, arguing for the first time that Becker's claims were subject to federal preemption. The trial court granted FTI's Motion, holding that federal preemption precluded Becker's claims against FTI. The court did not identify any specific federal law that applied to FTI, nor did it identify any governing standard of care. Becker had pled general federal regulation violations against FTI, and later moved to amend alleging specific federal regulation violations: Becker's motion was denied. Becker's earlier Motion to Amend to add a claim for punitive damages against FTI under Minnesota law had also been denied. Becker appeals all Orders, the denials of associated Motions for Reconsideration,

and the Final Judgment, all with regard to FTI. This appeal only applies to defendant FTI. The other defendants settled with Becker or were otherwise dismissed.

II. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1. The trial court erred in holding that federal regulations impliedly preempt state law standards of care in aircraft product liability actions.
- 2. The trial court erred in granting summary judgment on the basis of implied field preemption where Becker had pled violations of Federal Regulations against FTI.
- 3. The trial court erred in denying Becker's motion to amend her Complaint as to FTI to allege specific violations of federal regulations, when identical amendments were allowed for all other parties.
- 4. The trial court erred in granting summary judgment on the basis of federal preemption when FTI had failed to raise the issue in the pleadings.
- 5. The trial court erred in denying Becker's motion to amend her Complaint to add punitive damages claims against FTI under Minnesota law.

III. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. Whether federal regulations preempt the Washington Product Liability Act (RCW 7.72 et. seq.) and establish the standard of care for aircraft product liability actions in Washington? (No)

- 2. If so, whether federal preemption applies to FTI, an unregulated supplier of aircraft component parts? (No)
- 3. If federal preemption applies, what product liability standard of care applies to FTI when there is no specific or pervasive governing federal regulation? (No regulation applies)
- 4. Whether Becker created an issue of material fact by establishing that FTI's defective carburetor float did not comply with federal regulations? (Yes)
- 5. If federal preemption applies, whether Becker had a pleading requirement as to a specific standard of care when first raised by FTI by way of its motion for summary judgment? (No) And in any event, if Becker meet that requirement? (Yes)
- 6. If federal preemption has a pleading requirement that Becker did not meet in the Second Amended Complaint, should Becker have been granted leave to file a third amended complaint against FTI, when the same amended complaint was allowed against all other defendants? (Yes)
- 7. Whether FTI waived the affirmative defense of federal preemption when it failed to raise it in the pleadings or a motion under CR 12? (Yes)
- 8. Whether the trial court erred in failing to allow Becker to amend her Complaint to add punitive damages claims against FTI under Minnesota law. (Yes)

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Factual Background

1. This lawsuit arises from an aircraft accident caused by manufacturing defects in a component of the aircraft engine's carburetor, the carburetor float, manufactured by FTI.

On July 27, 2008, Brenda Houston was operating a Cessna 172N, registration N75558, that she had rented from Crest Airpark, owner of the aircraft. At approximately 2:00 p.m. the aircraft departed Roche Harbor on a planned flight to Auburn. There were two passengers on board in addition to Ms. Houston: her young daughter, Elizabeth Crews and Dr. Virgil Becker. At approximately 2:39 p.m. the aircraft lost engine power, descended into an area with reduced visibility, and crashed into rising wooded terrain near McMurray, Washington. All on board died.

Following the accident it was discovered that the carburetor float, a critical component part of the carburetor, had leaked and filled with fuel, a condition which the evidence shows caused the engine to quit and the airplane to crash. The carburetor is a component of the engine fuel delivery system.

FTI, a self-described expert in polymer welding and assembly, manufactured the defective carburetor float. CP 262, 342. FTI supplied the subject float to Precision Airmotive ("Precision"), who installed it in the carburetor of the accident aircraft. CP 262, 338. Prior to the subject

accident, there was a known and significant history of many of the same floats manufactured by FTI leaking and failing. CP 264, 369.

2. Facts Germane to Punitive Damages Claim.

a. The carburetor is part of the engine's fuel delivery system.

The MA-4SPA carburetor on the subject aircraft is a critical component of the aircraft engine's fuel delivery system that meters fuel and air into the engine's cylinders for combustion. The fuel/air ratio needs to be precisely combined by the carburetor; if the ratio is too rich or too lean, the engine will not run. When there is too much fuel in relation to air, excessive fuel floods the engine and it ceases producing power sufficient to keep the aircraft airborne. The engine's carburetor component utilizes a float assembly with two floating pontoons that move together inside the carburetor bowl to maintain the correct fuel level for delivery of fuel to the engine. As fuel is consumed by the engine, the fuel level drops allowing the carburetor floats to descend and open a needle valve which allows fuel to fill the bowl, which then raises the floats and shuts off the valve. However, if a float leaks, it becomes heavy and losses buoyancy. This can also cause the pontoon to rub against the side of the carburetor bowl. These conditions can cause the float to fail, resulting in the needle valve failing to close, ultimately flooding the engine. Precision Airmotive (Precision) manufactured the subject MA-4SPA carburetor. Defendant FTI supplied the subject 30-804 carburetor float to Precision. CP 264.

b. It is uncontested that FTI manufactured carburetor floats, certified that they met specifications, and sold them.

The carburetor float itself consists of three molded parts made of Delrin plastic. The body (part # 30-208) consists of two connected bowl shaped pontoons. The two lids (parts 30-209L and 30-209R) are designed to be sealed on top of each pontoon. The lids must be welded to the float body sufficient to make a complete hermetic seal. In addition, the welding must be performed to keep the design dimensions as specified in the design drawing for the assembled carburetor float, called the 30-804. The hot plate welding technique used to manufacture the 30-804 float is a technically advanced procedure requiring special equipment and trained operators. According to deposition testimony from FTI employees, FTI built the welding machines and tooling to manufacture the 30-804 floats. CP 296. Precision utilized FTI to manufacture the floats because Precision was not confident it could make the floats "with a consistency that was acceptable" because manufacturing the floats was a "difficult process." CP 297.

Precision placed purchase orders with FTI when it needed floats.

The common purchase order states in part that FTI must: "Manufacture in

accordance with Precision Airmotive drawing(s) and spec(s) referenced above. Certificate of compliance documenting that parts were *manufactured* per drawing, revision, date specifications, test results, etc., is required with each shipment." Appendix A – Purchase Order, CP 298. The finished product, created from three parts, was required to be in full compliance with the drawings and specifications, and became part number, 30-804, according to the design plans and specifications.

From 1997 to 2005 FTI assembled, hot-plate welded, certified, and sold to Precision 31,647 of the 30-804 carburetor floats. CP 289, 323-329. Many of the purchase orders placed by Precision were for orders in the range of 2,000 to 3,000 floats, which would keep Precision's inventory stocked as needed. CP 323-329.

c. It is uncontested that FTI had a long and never-resolved history of manufacturing and selling floats that leaked, that FTI knew that it was not adequately testing floats, and that an adequate test was available and feasible.

At FTI, problems arose immediately with regard to the 30-804 float leaking. The problems began in 1997, and continued, never-resolved, through the next eight years. FTI approved and shipped the subject 30-804 float on June 14, 2000, while aware of the unresolved problems with leaking in the floats it was assembling. CP 343-344, 369, 379, 384, 385.

FTI was not able to produce a reliable leak-free 30-804 with any consistency, and the high leak ratio never met its satisfaction. CP 381. FTI was concerned that the leak problem was never fixed. CP 369. FTI also knew that the prototype tooling had a tendency to wear and cause leaking floats, and FTI was worried about it, but still kept manufacturing, approving, and shipping numerous floats which would leak. CP 348, 356.

Production specifications for the 30-804 floats required that the weld joint be hermetically sealed. CP 365. FTI knew that Precision was relying on FTI to hermetically seal the floats because of FTI's expertise in the plastic welding field. CP 342. Precision's purchase orders required a hermetic weld seal, and dimensional compliance with design drawing specifications. CP 355. Throughout the life of its relationship with Precision, FTI was always checking dimensions, and FTI employee Scott Olson (FTI's Applications Engineer and Inside Sales Manager) would check dimensions with calipers. CP 362. If the floats did not conform to Precision's specifications, FTI knew that they were to be scrapped. CP 350. Despite this, FTI produced numerous leaking floats, referring to them as "leakers". The term "leaker" was commonly used at FTI. CP 346, 379. FTI defined "leaker" as "a float that is leaking at the weld." CP 361. FTI knew that a "leaker" did not meet the hermetically sealed standard that FTI was required to meet. CP 265.

In 1998 FTI took notice that many of the floats welded by FTI were rejected by Precision as leakers, and therefore FTI decided to run its own in-house leak testing. CP 348, 381. The criteria for FTI's leak test came from a service trip that an FTI employee made to Precision, where he observed Precision's form of hot water leak testing. The employee figured the same test would work for FTI. CP 382.

In 2000, (the year the subject accident float was assembled and welded by FTI) FTI's leak test could be performed in a kitchen. The procedure was to take a cake pan full of water, submerge welded floats in the water, place the pan on a hot plate, and visually observe for leaking bubbles. CP 351, 381. An FTI employee described the test as crude and subjective (CP 347, 351) testifying at deposition: "I would never guarantee an operator caught every leaking part." CP 359. FTI knew that the hot water leak test was "very crude," and would only catch "gross leakers," where less than gross leakers escaped detection. CP 347, 381. FTI was aware that its leak test was not very accurate. CP 383.

Since the 1990's, FTI held itself out as an expert in the field of leak test equipment, and was in fact in the business of manufacturing and selling such equipment. CP 348. FTI's vacuum testing was "extremely accurate," "close to 100%." CP 359, 369. In fact, FTI formally proposed such leak test equipment to Precision on two occasions, in 1998 and 1999,

but Precision rejected both proposals. CP 413. FTI could have easily employed extremely accurate leak testing, but chose not to, and continued to manufacture, approve, and sell floats that it knew had high potential to leak.

FTI did not have a product reliability program, a quality assurance program, a product failure analysis program, any product risk assessment procedures, a product tracking program, or a manufacturing review board. CP 342-343. FTI was not concerned about how the parts were performing in the field. CP 373. Despite the high rate of leakers for 8 years, FTI never considered a recall (*id.*), a warning, or other product failure response.

d. It is uncontested that FTI knew that that an aircraft engine could lose power if the floats it manufactured and sold leaked.

FTI knew that the carburetor floats that it was manufacturing and approving were for use on aircraft, and could not be allowed to leak. CP 370, 379. The testimony of FTI's Applications Engineer regarding this issue is shocking:

- Q. But it was a concern that you had, and the problem was never fixed, right?
- A. You know, I was -- it was a concern that I had. And my concern was that we were making them bad parts. They were paying for bad parts. There would be logistic issues. It was a bad situation. So, yes, in that regards I was concerned.
- Q. You were selling them defective floats, right?
- A Correct

- Q. Now, let me ask you this: The 30-804 float, do I understand correctly that that was the one that had the biggest issue -
- A. Yes
- Q. -- with leakage?
- A. Yes.
- Q. Okay, How many 30-804 floats did you sell to Precision over the years?
- A. Several thousand. [records reflect 31,647]

. . . .

- Q You understood, though, that Precision was selling the Delrin floats that your company welded and they were going onto aircraft engines?
- A. Yes.

CP 123-126, see also, 369-370 (emphasis added, objections omitted).

This FTI engineer, who has rebuilt many carburetors, understood the consequences of a leaking and sinking float. "I know it can affect engine performance." CP 370. He knew it could cause engine flooding and stoppage. CP 360. Though the FTI engineer knew the situation involved a safety issue, he did not care enough to cease mass production of floats with a known high rate of "leakers", testifying: "To me, it's just another plastic widget." CP 370-371. The failure history of FTI's leakers in operating aircraft is also uncontested. Warranty documents reflect that from 1999 through the date of the accident more than 110 floats in the field filled with fuel and failed, many of which caused engine problems and engine failure on aircraft. CP 289. Furthermore, Service Difficulty Reports, available for free on the internet, also reflect a plethora of float

leaks and failures during the relevant time frame. CP 389-391. In November 2007, the Swiss Accident Investigation Board released on the internet Report No. 1970 (published 8 months before the subject accident), addressing the leaking Delrin float problem:

As investigations of previous accidents or incidents due to engine faults in the air and on the ground and the experience of licensed carburetor servicing companies have shown, the freedom of movement of a float with one side filled with AVGAS is very badly affected by the asymmetrical forces acting on the float linkage. The resulting defective operation of the needle valve prevents the generation of a correct fuel-air mix. As a rule, too much fuel is therefore added to the mixture, leading to a loss of power.

Leaking plastic floats as the cause of engine faults have also led to detailed investigations by the Bureau d'Enquêteset d'Analyses (BEA) in France and the Air Accident Investigation Branch (AAIB) in England. They have shown that this type of float is unsuitable for safe operation in powered flight.

CP 398 (emphasis added).

e. FTI worked closely with Precision to try to resolve the issue of leaks throughout the 8 year period in which FTI was mass producing the 30-804 floats, but to no avail. CP 338, 412. It is uncontested that the subject float did not meet specifications, which caused the float to leak and rub against the carburetor bowl wall.

After the accident, the right carburetor float pontoon was discovered to be completely filled with aviation fuel. Appendix B – Affidavit of Richard H. McSwain, Ph.D, P.E., CP 548, 1276. The leak

occurred in the weld seam. App. B, CP 549, 644. The most likely cause was that when FTI welded the float together, it did not properly align the lid and body, and instead, FTI forced the parts into their holding fixtures during welding, creating both a stress condition prohibited by the plans and specifications, and an out of dimension float. App. B, CP 549-550, 644.

The carburetor floats were designed to be hermetically sealed, and not rub against the carburetor bowl wall. However, the subject float, which was out of dimension, was also found to have rubbed against the carburetor bowl wall. These conditions caused the engine to flood and fail. Appendix C – 6/24/12 Declaration of Donald E. Sommer, P.E., CP 813, Appendix D - 11/2/11 Amended Declaration of Donald E. Sommer, P.E., CP 1276.

The accident signatures also reflect engine failure rather than some other cause. For example the pilot was on the emergency radio frequency (121.5 MHZ) at the time of the accident. The engine and propeller showed no signs of power at impact. App. D, CP 1277. The radar track flight path reveals an engine out glide path, and the accident scene reflects controlled flight into terrain. *Id*.

In short, the subject float should never have been approved and certified by FTI that it met Precision's design plans and specifications.

FTI should not have supplied the out-of-spec float to Precision. Appendix E - Declaration of Paul J. Gramann, Ph.D, CP 645. The defective float manufactured by FTI leaked and rubbed against the carburetor bowl wall, causing N75558's engine to fail resulting in the accident. App. C, CP 813.

B. Procedural History

Becker filed suit against FTI and other defendants on July 23, 2010. The Complaint was amended twice. CP 1-30, 54-82. The estates of the other two decedents, Brenda Houston and her daughter Elizabeth Crews, also filed suit against the same defendants. The two cases were ordered consolidated. CP 49-50. Becker's Second Amended Complaint stated that the carburetor components were not in compliance with government regulations "including the Federal Aviation Regulations (14 CFR et seq)." CP 77. Also, in responses to FTI's interrogatories, Becker affirmatively stated: "The . . . Delrin float, did not meet federal minimum standards." CP 801.

On May 7, 2012, Becker brought a Motion to Amend the Second Amended Complaint to add claims of punitive damages against defendant FTI under Minnesota law on the grounds that FTI's conduct (all of which occurred in Minnesota) manifested "a deliberate disregard for the rights or safety of others" under Minn. Stat.§ 549.20 (2008). Despite Becker's

presentation of extensive evidence in support, the trial court denied the motion because "no prima facie showing [was] made." CP 88-200.

On June 15, 2012, FTI brought a Motion for Summary Judgment arguing that: 1) FTI was beyond the purview of Washington product liability law; 2) FTI was immune from liability under Washington negligence law; and, 3) pursuant to implied federal preemption, the applicable standard of care was not based on Washington state product liability law, but was supplanted by federal regulations, and none of these regulations applied to FTI. FTI raised preemption for the first time in its Motion for Summary Judgment, nearly 2 years into the case, and less than two months before the discovery cutoff. According to FTI, its conduct in manufacturing the defective float was not subject to any legal standard of care. FTI later confirmed "[t]here are no federal regulations . . . that apply to FTI". CP 1123 ¹ Becker opposed FTI's preemption argument by citing extensive legal authority that Becker's aviation product liability claims are not subject to implied federal preemption. However, the trial court agreed with FTI:

. . . the Court Grants Summary Judgment on the grounds that federal aviation law and concomitant federal

-

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