72416-9

FILED
March 27, 2015
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington

72416-9

Court of Appeals No. 72416-9-I

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION ONE
OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

ESTATE OF VIRGIL VICTOR BECKER, JR., by its Personal
Representative, Jennifer L. White,

Appellant/Plaintiff,

v.

FORWARD TECHNOLOGY INDUSTRIES, INC.,

Respondent/Defendant.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

Francis S. Floyd WSBA No. 10642
Douglas K. Weigel, WSBA No. 27192
John A. Safarli, WBSA No. 44056
FLOYD, PFLUEGER & RINGER, P.S.
200 West Thomas Street, Suite 500
Seattle, WA 98119
Telephone: (206) 441-4455
Facsimile: (206) 441-8484

*Attorneys for Respondent Forward
Technology Industries, Inc.*

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

IV. ARGUMENT

A. **The trial court properly granted FTI's summary judgment motion on the basis of federal preemption**

This Court should affirm the FTI's summary judgment dismissal on the basis of federal preemption. The trial court correctly concluded that federal law preempts state law standards of care in the field of aviation safety. Becker acknowledged in her discovery responses that she was not alleging FTI violated any federal regulations or other standards. Accordingly, her claims could not survive summary judgment. On appeal, Becker attempts to salvage her case against FTI by arguing that she was not required to plead specific standards of care. This argument is meritless, as a nonmoving party must assert the specifics of their legal theories to withstand summary judgment. Becker also argues that her second amended complaint adequately alleged violations of federal standards of care. But her second amended complaint only contained general references to a broad swath of federal regulations, which is insufficient to defeat summary judgment.

1. **Standard of review**

This Court reviews summary judgment decisions *de novo*, engaging in the same inquiry as the trial court, to determine if the moving party is entitled to summary judgment as a matter of law and if there is any genuine issue of material fact requiring a trial. *Michak v. Transnation Title Ins. Co.*, 148 Wn.2d 788, 794-95, 64 P.3d 22 (2003). Unsupported conclusory statements alone are insufficient to prove the existence or nonexistence of issues of fact. *Hash v. Children's Orthopedic Hosp. & Medical Ctr.*, 49 Wn. App. 130, 133, 741 P.2d 584 (1987). A nonmoving party attempting to resist a summary judgment "may not rely on speculation [or] argumentative assertions that unresolved factual matters remain"; rather, "the nonmoving party must set forth specific facts that

sufficiently rebut the moving party's contentions and disclose that a genuine issue as to a material fact exists." *Halvorsen v. Ferguson*, 46 Wn. App. 708, 721, 735 P.2d 675 (1986).

2. FTI did not waive federal preemption in the trial court

Becker argues that FTI waived its federal preemption argument in the trial court. App. Br. at pgs. 38-42. Ironically, Becker did not raise this argument in her summary judgment opposition. See CP at 278-284. Instead, she asserted it for the first time in her reconsideration motion, which was denied by the trial court.² CP at 804, 1397. Becker has not assigned error to the denial of her reconsideration motion, and does not separately address the reconsideration motion in her brief. Accordingly, she has failed to preserve her waiver argument. *SentinelC3, Inc. v. Hunt*, 181 Wn.2d 128, 138 n.4, 331 P.3d 40 (2014).

Becker's waiver argument is meritless in any case. The only Washington state court cited by Becker is *Schneider v. Snyder's Foods, Inc.*, 95 Wn. App. 399, 976 P.2d 134 (1999), which does not support her argument. *Schneider* listed federal preemption as one of four affirmative defenses raised by the defendant. *Id.* at 401. *Schneider* did not hold that federal preemption is waived unless raised as an affirmative defense, nor did it hold that federal preemption is an affirmative defense to begin with. It simply described federal preemption as one of several issues raised by the defendant in response to the complaint.

In the absence of any binding state law authority that federal preemption is an affirmative defense that is waived unless pled, Becker

² Because Becker raised this argument for the first time in her reconsideration motion when she could have asserted it in her summary judgment opposition, the argument should not be considered by this Court. See *Wilcox v. Lexington Eye Inst.*, 130 Wn. App. 234, 241, 122 P.3d 729 (2005) (refusing to consider arguments on appeal that were raised for the first time on a reconsideration motion when no explanation was provided for why arguments could not have been raised in the trial court earlier); *JDFJ Corp. v. Int'l Raceway, Inc.*, 97 Wn. App. 1, 7, 970 P.2d 343 (1999) (same).

attempts to argue by analogy. First, she claims that federal courts in Washington and elsewhere have held that a party must allege federal preemption in an answer. Second, Becker contends that Washington Civil Rule 8(c) and Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 8(c) “follow each other nearly word for word.” App. Br. at pg. 39. She then asserts that in Washington, federal preemption is waived unless pled as an affirmative defense. But this conclusion does not necessarily follow from the premises. “‘Where a state rule parallels a federal rule, analysis of the federal rule may be looked to for guidance’ in interpreting the state rule.” *Washburn v. City of Federal Way*, 178 Wn.2d 732, 750, 310 P.3d 1275 (2013) (quoting *Beal v. City of Seattle*, 134 Wn.2d 769, 777, 954 P.2d 237 (1998)). “However, [courts] follow the federal analysis only if [courts] find its reasoning persuasive.” *Id.*

CR 8(c) provides that a responsive pleading “shall set forth . . . any . . . matter constituting an avoidance or affirmative defense.” However, CR 15(b) provides that “[w]hen issues not raised by the pleadings are tried by express or implied consent of the parties, they shall be treated in all respects as if they had been raised in the pleadings.” This rule is to be liberally construed. *Burlingham-Meeker Co. v. Thomas*, 58 Wn.2d 79, 81, 360 P.2d 1033 (1961). Federal preemption is a legal doctrine that commonly appears in aviation-related lawsuits. Indeed, AVCO and Precision both pled federal preemption as an affirmative defense in their answers in December 2010 and April 2011, respectively, which FTI incorporated by reference. CP at 2477-2478, 2482-2483, 2486-2487, 2490-2491. Additionally, FTI served discovery requests in April 2012 on Becker that clearly indicated that federal preemption was at issue. *See, e.g.*, CP at 2048 (asking Becker to identify the government—federal, state, or local—that promulgated the specific regulations that FTI allegedly

violated). Accordingly, Becker was indisputably on notice that federal preemption was at issue in this case. *See Dep't of Revenue v. Puget Sound Power & Light Co.*, 103 Wn.2d 501, 504, 694 P.2d 7 (1985) (holding that although affirmative defense of statute of limitations was not expressly pled, the defense was a “focus” of the case and raised under CR 15(b) and not waived); *Reichelt v. Johns-Manville Corp.*, 107 Wn.2d 761, 767-68, 733 P.2d 530 (1987) (issue raised during summary judgment and in discovery was deemed part of the pleadings); *Shaffer v. Victoria Station, Inc.*, 18 Wn. App. 816, 572 P.2d 737 (1977).¹⁰

In any event, FTI expressly raised federal preemption as an affirmative defense when it explicitly incorporated the affirmative defenses of AVCO and Precision. CP at 2487 (¶ 12.20). CR 10(c) provides that “[s]tatements in a pleading may be adopted by reference in a different part of the same pleading or in another pleading or in any motion.” FTI’s incorporation by reference of federal preemption was sufficient to sustain summary judgment dismissal. *See Davis v. Bear*, No. 12-330, 2013 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 57873, at *12-13 (W.D. Okla. Feb. 25, 2013) (dismissing defendant on summary judgment based on affirmative defense incorporated by reference in defendant’s answer). In sum, FTI did not waive federal preemption in the trial court.

3. The trial court correctly concluded that state law standards of care in the aviation safety field are preempted by federal law

a. *Preemption generally*

Pursuant to the Supremacy Clause of the United States Constitution, Congress has the authority to preempt state law. *Montalvo v. Spirit Airlines*, 508 F.3d 464, 470 (9th Cir. 2007).¹¹ There are several

¹⁰ *Rev'd on other grounds*, 91 Wn.2d 295, 588 P.2d 233 (1978)

¹¹ Ninth Circuit precedent is entitled to “substantial deference.” *Lundborg v. Keystone Shopping Co.*, 138 Wn.2d 658, 677, 981 P.2d 854 (1999). Here, the trial court relied on *Montalvo* in granting FTI summary judgment dismissal. *See* CP at 666. Remarkably, Becker never discusses *Montalvo* in her opening brief.

different categories of preemption. The first distinction is between express and implied preemption. In the trial court, FTI conceded that this case does not involve express preemption. CP at 243. Oddly, Becker discusses it extensively in her opening brief, while failing to fully address implied preemption—the actual basis of the trial court’s decision. *See* App. Br. at 23-29. Within the implied preemption category, there is conflict and field preemption. FTI did not assert conflict preemption.

Instead, this case concerns implied field preemption, which occurs when “federal law so thoroughly occupies a legislative field as to make reasonable the inference that Congress left no room for the states to supplement it.” *Montalvo*, 508 F.3d at 470 (internal quotation omitted). The “comprehensiveness” of federal law in the field is an indication of “preemptive intent.” *Id.* Another indication is the “pervasiveness of the regulations enacted pursuant to the relevant statute to find preemptive intent.” *Id.* Federal regulations demonstrate implied field preemption because where “Congress has entrusted an agency,” such as the FAA, “with the task of promulgating regulations to carry out the purposes of a statute, as part of the preemption analysis [courts] must consider whether the regulations evidence a desire to occupy a field completely.” *Id.* at 470-71 (quoting *R.J. Reynolds Tobacco Co. v. Durham County*, 479 U.S. 130, 149, 107 S.Ct. 499, 3 L. Ed. 2d 449 (1986)).

b. *There is field preemption in the aviation safety field*

The question of whether federal law preempts state law for aviation safety was answered in the affirmative in *Montalvo*. *Id.*, 508 F.3d at 470-74. In *Montalvo*, the plaintiffs brought, among other causes of action, a state law failure-to-warn claim against several commercial airline companies. The plaintiffs alleged that the airlines failed to warn about the risk of developing a medical condition during prolonged flights. The

district court held that the plaintiffs' failure-to-warn claim was meritless because there was no federal requirement that airlines warn passengers about the risk of developing the condition.

The Ninth Circuit affirmed, holding that “the regulations enacted by the Federal Aviation Administration, read in conjunction with [the Federal Aviation Act of 1958, 49 U.S.C. § 40103 *et seq.*], sufficiently demonstrate an intent to occupy exclusively the entire field of aviation safety and carry out Congress’s intent to preempt all state law in this field.” *See Montalvo*, 508 F.3d at 471. The Ninth Circuit noted that aviation safety is “not subject to supplementation by, or variation among, *states*” because the field has “long been dominated by federal interests” and “federal air safety regulations[] establish complete and thorough safety standards” for aviation. *Id.* at 471, 474.

The *Montalvo* Court concluded that “it is clear that Congress intended to invest the Administrator of the FAA with the authority to enact exclusive air safety standards,” including regulations that cover “*airworthiness standards.*” *Montalvo*, 508 F.3d at 472 (emphasis added). The First, Third, Sixth, and Tenth Circuits have all reached the same conclusion. *French v. Pan Am Express, Inc.*, 869 F.2d 1, 5 (1st Cir. 1989); *Abdullah v. American Airlines, Inc.*, 181 F.3d 363, 367-68 (3d Cir. 1999); *Elassaad v. Independence Air, Inc.*, 613 F.3d 119, 129 (3d Cir. 2010); *Greene v. B.F. Goodrich Avionics Sys., Inc.*, 409 F.3d 784, 495 (6th Cir. 2005); *US Airways, Inc. v. O’Donnell*, 627 F.3d 1318, 1326 (10th Cir. 2010).

Similar to Ninth Circuit listing “airworthiness standards” as a preempted field, the Third Circuit in *Abdullah* also specifically cited regulations concerning “certification and ‘airworthiness’ requirements for aircraft parts” as an area preempted by federal law. *Abdullah*, 181 F.3d at

367-68. As the *Montalvo* Court explained:

Congress could not reasonably have intended an [airplane] on a Providence-to-Baltimore-to-Miami run to be subject to certain requirements in, for example, Maryland, but not in Rhode Island or in Florida. It is equally as doubtful that Congress would have intended the sufficiency of the Airlines' warnings to hinge on where each passenger on each flight was likely to file suit. . . . [S]uch a result would be an anathema to the [Federal Aviation Act].

Montalvo, 508 F.3d at 473 (emphasis added).

In 2009, the Ninth Circuit decided *Martin v. Midwest Holdings, Inc.*, 555 F.3d 806 (9th Cir. 2009), which clarified *Montalvo*'s expansive holding. In *Martin*, the plaintiff alleged that the airplane's stairs were defectively designed because they only had one handrail. The airline settled the claim then sued the manufacturer for indemnification. *Id.* at 808. The *Martin* Court explained that *Montalvo* "neither precludes all claims except those based on violations of specific federal regulations, nor requires federal courts to independently develop a standard of care when there are no relevant federal regulations." *Id.* at 811. Instead, *Montalvo* means that "when an agency issues 'pervasive regulations' in an area, like passenger warnings, the FAA preempts all state claims in *that* area. In areas without pervasive regulations or other grounds for preemption, the state standard of care remains applicable." *Id.* The *Martin* Court held that since "airstairs" were slightly regulated, but not pervasively, the FAA did not preempt state law.

In 2013, the Ninth Circuit created a two-part test modeled after *Montalvo* and *Martin*. In *Gilstrap v. United Airlines, Inc.*, 709 F.3d 995 (9th Cir. 2013), the Ninth Circuit first analyzed the Third Circuit's leading FAA preemption case, *Abdullah*. *Abdullah* holds that "federal law establishes the applicable *standards of care* in the field of air safety" but does not preempt state remedies. *Gilstrap*, 709 F.3d at 1005 (quoting

Abdullah, 181 F.3d at 367 (emphasis in original)).

In so holding, *Abdullah* followed the Supreme Court's reasoning in the landmark case of *Silkwood v. Kerr-McGee Corp.*, 464 U.S. 238, 104 S. Ct. 615, 78 L. Ed. 2d 443 (1984). *Silkwood* established, in the context of atomic energy regulation, that "federal preemption of [state and territorial] standards of care can coexist with state and territorial tort remedies." *Abdullah*, 181 F.3d at 375. The Ninth Circuit soundly adopted the holding of *Abdullah* "that federal law generally establishes the applicable standards of care in the field of aviation safety." *Gilstrap*, 709 F.3d at 1005 (quoting *Montalvo*, 508 F.3d at 468) (emphasis in original)).

The *Gilstrap* Court also adopted from *Abdullah* the Third Circuit's "division of the FAA's field preemptive effect into two components: state standards of care, which may be field preempted by pervasive regulations, and state remedies, which may survive even if the standard of care is so preempted." *Gilstrap*, 709 F.3d at 1006.

With this in mind, the Ninth Circuit established a two-part framework for evaluating whether field preemption applies under the FAA. *Id.* "First, we ask whether the particular *area* of aviation commerce and safety implicated in the lawsuit is governed by 'pervasive [federal] regulations.'" *Id.* (quoting *Martin*, 555 F.3d at 311) (emphasis added). If yes, then any applicable state standards of care are preempted. *Id.* Second, "[e]ven in those *areas*, however, the scope of field preemption extends only to the standard of care." *Id.* (emphasis added). Accordingly, "local law still governs the other negligence elements (breach, causation, and damages), as well as the choice and availability of remedies." *Id.* (internal quotes omitted).

Applying this framework, *Gilstrap* held that the federal Air Carrier Access Act and its implementing regulations preempted the state standard

of care under which airlines must provide assistance to passengers with disabilities moving through airports. “The ACAA does not, however, preempt any state remedies that may be available when airlines violate those standards.” *Id.* at 1010.

In 2014, the Eastern District of Washington relied on the two-part test of *Gilstrap* and held that based on field preemption, “federal law *exclusively* establishes the standard of care as to the design, test, and approval of the [aircraft] stall/spin characteristics, *preempting any state standards.*” *McIntosh v. Cub Crafters*, No. 13-3004, 2014 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 21491, at *14 (E.D. Wa. Feb. 19, 2014) (emphasis added) (holding that 14 C.F.R. § 21 *et seq.*, which contained the FAA’s federal standards for airworthiness certification, pervasively regulate the design, testing, and approval of manufactured parts for light-sport aircraft).

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